SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

JAMES D. STERLING and CAROLYN STERLING, as Parents and Natural Guardians of JAMES D. STERLING, JR., a minor, and JAMES D. STERLING and CAROLYN STERLING, Individually,

CASE NO.: SC06-1910

L.T.CASE NO.: 2D05-1875

Petitioners,

v.

THE OHIO CASUALTY INS. CO., and AUTO-OWNERS INS.CO./SOUTHERN-OWNERS INS. CO.,

Respondents.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL CASE NO. 2D05-1875

AMENDED

BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF PETITIONERS, JAMES D. STERLING and CAROLYN STERLING, as Parents and Natural Guardians of JAMES D. STERLING, JR., a minor, and JAMES D. STERLING and CAROLYN STERLING, Individually

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This case is neither factually nor procedurally complicated. On or about December 14, 2002, James D. Sterling, Jr., a minor, was seriously injured when, as a pedestrian, he was struck by a car driven by Crystal Freitas, an underinsured motorist. (R.4) At the time of the accident, the Sterlings were insured under an automobile liability insurance policy issued by Ohio Casualty. (R.5-6, 11-77)

The policy issued by Ohio Casualty is a "business" automobile policy issued to James D. Sterling, d/b/a J. D.'s Backhoe Service. (R.13) The policy insured a 1990 trailer and a 2000 Ford F450 flatbed truck. (R.13) It provided \$300,000 in uninsured motorist (UM) coverage. (R.13-14, 16) The Florida UM coverage, non-stacked endorsement, provided, in pertinent part:

We will pay all sums the "insured" is legally entitled to recover as compensatory damages from the owner or driver of an "uninsured motor vehicle." The damages must result from "bodily injury" sustained by the "insured" caused by an "accident." The owner's or driver's liability for these damages must result from the ownership, maintenance or use of the "uninsured motor vehicle." (R.57)

collectively as the "Sterlings" or as the Plaintiffs. The Defendant, OHIO CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY will be referred to as "Ohio Casualty" or as the Insurer. AUTO OWNERS INSURANCE COMPANY was dismissed.

1

¹ Appellants, JAMES D. STERLING and CAROLYN STERLING, as parents and natural guardians of JAMES D. STERLING, JR., a minor, and JAMES D. STERLING and CAROLYN STERLING, individually, will be referred to

² All references to the Record on Appeal will be referred to as (R.) followed by citation to the page number of the Record on Appeal.

The endorsement defined an insured as follows:

Who is insured:

- 1. Anyone "occupying" a covered "auto" or a temporary substitute for a covered "auto." The covered "auto" must be out of service because of its breakdown, repair, servicing, loss, or destruction.
- 2. Anyone for damages he or she is entitled to recover because of "bodily injury" sustained by another "insured." (R.57)

The endorsement also addressed limits of insurance. It provided:

D. Limit On Insurance:

- 1. Regardless of the number of "covered autos," "insureds," premiums paid, claims made or vehicles involved in the "accident," the most we will pay for all damages resulting from any one "accident" is the limit of uninsured motorist coverage shown in the declarations. However, any recovery for damages sustained by the Named Insured, if shown in the Declarations as an Individual or any "family member" of that individual:
- (c) While not "occupying" any vehicle may equal, but not exceed, the highest limit of insurance for uninsured motorist coverage applicable to any one vehicle under any one policy affording coverage to you or any "family member." (R.58)

The endorsement also contains additional definitions. It provides:

F. ADDITIONAL DEFINITIONS

As used in this endorsement:

1. "Family member" means a person related to you by blood, marriage, or adoption, who is a resident of your household, including a ward or foster child. (R.61)

The policy's liability coverage defines the term "insured" as follows:

1. WHO IS AN INSURED

The following are "insureds."

- a. You for any covered "auto"
- b. Anyone else while using with your permission a covered "auto" you own, hire or borrow except:
 - (1) The owner or anyone else from whom you hire or borrow a covered "auto." This exception does not apply if the covered "auto" is a "trailer" connected to a covered "auto" you own.
 - (2) Your "employee" if the covered "auto" is owed by that "employee" or member of his or her household.
 - (3) Someone using a covered "auto" while he or she is working in a business of selling, servicing, repairing, parking or storing "autos" unless that business is yours.
 - (4) Anyone other than your "employees," partners (if you are a partnership), members (if you are a limited liability company), or a lessee or borrower or any of their "employees" while moving property to or from a covered "auto."
 - (5) A partner (if you are a partnership), or a member (if you are a limited

liability company), for a covered "auto" owned by him or her or a member of his or her household.

c. Anyone liable for the conduct of an "insured" described above but only to the extent of that liability. (R.17-18)

The policy was also delivered with "An Important Notice To Our Commercial Automobile Policyholders Regarding Changes To Your Uninsured Motorist Coverage." (R.77) This notice advised the insured that the intent of UM coverage on a commercial policy was to cover the insured and the insured's employees while operating or occupying the insured vehicles described in the policy. The notice explained that court decisions in other jurisdictions had expanded the scope of such coverage beyond this stated intent and had ruled that employees were entitled to such coverage even when they were operating a non-business owned vehicle for non-business purposes. The notice further stated that the broadening of coverage, unless corrected, would result in higher premiums and legal fees for the insured and the insured's business. The notice advised the insured of the insurance carrier's desire to help the insured protect what was theirs and to only provide UM coverage for he insured or insured employees while operating or occupying an owned auto described in the policy. (R.77)

The Sterlings timely made a claim for UM benefits and the claim was denied. (R.8-9) They then brought suit against Ohio Casualty both for the benefits and for declaratory judgment under the policy seeking a determination from the

answered the Complaint, admitting the Court's jurisdiction and that it had issued a policy of insurance to James D. Sterling, d/b/a J. D.'s Backhoe Service. It denied all further allegations. (R.141-142) Ohio Casualty asserted that there was no UM coverage under the policy for the incident alleged in the Complaint. (R.142)

Both parties then filed cross-motions for summary judgment. (R.157-161, 166-170) The Sterlings stated the policy was issued to James D. Sterling, d/b/a J. D.'s Backhoe Service and that the use of the phrase "d/b/a" was employed to comply with Florida's Fictitious Name Statute. The policy, however, was issued to James D. Sterling. Carolyn Sterling, his wife, and James Jr. were family members as defined in the policy. (R.157-158) Since Ohio Casualty had issued a non-stackable policy on two vehicles, the Sterlings stated that they were entitled, pursuant to Florida Statute §627.727(9)(e), to select any one limit of UM coverage for any vehicle insured under the policy. (R.158-160)

Ohio Casualty, on the other hand, asserted that James D. Sterling, Jr., the minor, was injured as a pedestrian on December 14, 2002, but under the definition of "insured" contained in the liability coverage, he did not qualify as an insured person under that coverage and, reciprocally, no UM coverage was provided. (R.166-170) Ohio Casualty claimed that, as part of the policy, there was a notice, "Notice NP71130501" which explained that it was the intent of the UM coverage

on the commercial auto policy to cover the named insured or the named insured's employees while occupying and operating owned automobiles described in the policy. The notice further claimed that it was correcting confusing language and returned the scope of uninsured motorist coverage to its original intent. (R.168-169) As such, Ohio Casualty claimed that, since James D. Sterling, Jr., did not qualify as an insured, notwithstanding his status as a resident family member of James D. Sterling, there was no UM coverage afforded by the policy. (R.169)

Following a hearing, the trial court granted Ohio Casualty's Motion for Summary Judgment, concluding that the coverage did not extend to James D. Sterling, Jr., a minor, because he did not qualify as an insured under the language of the liability coverage or the Florida UM coverage non-stack form. The court stated that the unambiguous language of the policy did not extend coverage to a family member who was not an occupant of an insured vehicle. (R.183-184)

The trial court entered a final declaratory judgment in accordance with its ruling on the cross-motions for summary judgment. (R.426-428) The Second District Court of Appeal affirmed that decision. Sterling v. Ohio Casualty Ins. Co., 936 So.2d 43 (Fla. 2d DCA 2006). In affirming the trial court, the Second District determined that a business auto policy insuring business or commercial autos was not required to utilize a definition of insured that would provide UM coverage to resident family members of the named insured, even if the named insured as an

individual and not a corporation. That Court concluded that Florida law does not compel auto insures to provide UM coverage to resident family members of individual named insureds who purchase liability insurance to cover a "business" vehicle because UM coverage on a business vehicle does not have to provide the same UM coverage as if it were a family vehicle. <u>Id</u>. at 47. By Order of March 12, 2007, this Court accepted jurisdiction over this case.

ISSUE ON APPEAL

WHETHER OHIO CASUALTY IS REQUIRED TO PROVIDE UNINSURED MOTORIST BENEFITS TO THE RESIDENT MINOR SON OF THE NAMED INSURED?

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This case involves interpretation of a statute and an insurance policy. Questions of statutory interpretation are a matter of law subject to <u>de novo</u> review. <u>B.Y. v. Dept. of Children & Families</u>, 887 So.2d 1253, 1255 (Fla. 2004) Questions of insurance coverage are also subject to <u>de novo</u> review. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g. Auto Owners Ins. Co. v. Above All Roofing, LLC</u>, 924 So.2d 842 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2006).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The issue in this case is straight-forward. Stated simply, the question is whether an uninsured motorist carrier who has issued a policy to an individual may limit uninsured motorist benefits to the occupancy of an insured vehicle on a claim made by a resident relative of the named insured. Florida courts have addressed this issue literally dozens of times. In almost every instance, the courts have relied on the polestar decision, Mullis v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company, 252 So.2d 229 (Fla. 1971), and have concluded that the insurance carrier may not restrict the provision of uninsured motorist benefits to a Class I insured. Rather, the named insured and resident family members are entitled to uninsured motorist coverage whether they are pedestrians, riding in motor vehicles owned by others, or occupying vehicles owed by them and not insured under the policy.

In the more than 45 years since <u>Mullis</u> was issued, insurers, like Ohio Casualty, have attempted to reduce the benefits they are required to pay by inserting restrictions in the policies. Such restrictions are only permissible when they are unambiguous and consistent with the purpose of the UM statute. <u>Flores v. Allstate Ins. Co.</u>, 819 So.2d 740, 745 (Fla. 2000) Ohio Casualty's restrictions do not and cannot meet this test.

First, the provisions in the UM endorsement are hopelessly ambiguous. The limits of liability provision expressly provides that if a resident family member is struck when <u>not</u> occupying an insured vehicle, he or she may elect the highest limits of UM protection provided on any one vehicle insured under the policy. That provision conflicts with and is repugnant to the definition of insured which requires occupancy of the insured vehicle as a condition to obtain coverage. Fundamental principles of insurance contract interpretation which require the broadest coverage in conformity with the state's public policy, should have been adopted below, to recognize this coverage.

Second, Ohio Casualty has not and cannot show its restrictions are consistent with the purpose of the UM statute. Florida courts have repeatedly stated that the purpose of the uninsured motorist statute is for the protection of injured persons, not for the benefit of insurance companies or motorists who cause damage to others. See, Young v. Progressive Southeastern Insurance Company, 753 So.2d 80, 83 (Fla. 2000). As a creature of statute, rather than as a matter of contract, UM protection is not susceptible to attempts by insurance companies to limit or negate that protection. Generally, provisions in such policies that provide less coverage than required by the statute are void as contrary to public policy. Salas v. Liberty Mutual Insurance Company, 272 So.2d 1, 5 (Fla. 1972). Likewise, insurance companies, like Ohio Casualty, may not avoid the rule of Mullis by the expedient

measure of moving exclusionary language into a definition of who may constitute an insured under the policy. See, Devine v. Prudential Property and Casualty Insurance Company, 614 So.2d 683 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993).

In the present case, it is undisputed that James Sterling did not reject UM coverage as authorized by §627.727(1), Florida Statutes. Therefore, the only other restrictions which are authorized by statute are those recognized in §627.727(9), Florida Statutes. Ohio Casualty's restriction is not one that is authorized by that statutory section and, as such, it is simply unenforceable. Ohio Casualty, by restricting the definition of insured, has taken the position that James D. Sterling, Jr., is not an insured because he was not occupying an insured vehicle. That restriction is permissible as to a Class II insured. It is not permissible, and has been recognized as violative of public policy for more than 40 years, as to a Class I insured. As such, Ohio Casualty cannot satisfy either prong of the Flores test.

This Court should reverse the judgment entered below with directions on remand to enter a declaratory judgment finding uninsured motorist benefits available to the Sterlings and for the court to conduct a jury trial to determine the amount of his damages.

ARGUMENT

OHIO CASUALTY IS REQUIRED TO PROVIDE UNINSURED MOTORIST BENEFITS TO THE RESIDENT MINOR SON OF THE NAMED INSURED.

The issue in this case is straight-forward. Simply stated, the question is whether an insurer who issues a motor vehicle liability insurance policy which provides bodily injury liability coverage, must provide UM coverage to a resident relative of the named insured who was injured while not occupying an insured vehicle. Since 1961, when the UM statute was originally passed, Florida courts have repeatedly been asked to address this same issue or issues substantially similar to it. With few exceptions, those courts have uniformly held that when UM coverage has been purchased by the named insured, resident relatives are likewise entitled to UM coverage no matter where they may be at the time of the accident. Such a conclusion is mandated, notwithstanding language in the policy to the contrary, by the public policy of the State. With all due respect to the Second District and the trial court, they erred when they concluded that Ohio Casualty could avoid the provision of UM benefits to James Sterling, Jr., simply by removing him from the definition of an insured person. That conclusion was erroneous. The decision of the Second District should be quashed by this Court.

Any analysis of an UM issue must first start with the applicable statute. Florida Statutes, §627.727(1) (2002), provides, in pertinent part:

No motor vehicle liability insurance policy which provides bodily injury liability coverage shall be delivered or issued for delivery in this state with respect to any specifically insured or identified motor vehicle registered or principally garaged in this state unless uninsured motor vehicle coverage is provided therein or supplemental thereto for the protection of persons insured hereunder who are legally entitled to recover damages from owners or operators of uninsured motor vehicles because of bodily injury, sickness, or disease, including death, resulting therefrom.

The only exception to that mandatory requirement is likewise contained within subsection (1). It provides that UM coverage need not be provided if the named insured rejects such coverage. See, Flores v. Allstate Insurance Company, 819 So.2d 740, 744 (Fla. 2002) (insurers issuing such policies are mandated by statute to offer UM coverage unless it is expressly rejected); Varro v. Federated Mutual Ins. Co., 845 So.2d 726, 728 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003) (expressing same principle of law). In this case, there is no dispute. James Sterling did not reject that coverage.

Policies issued pursuant to Florida Statutes, §627.727(9), are authorized to contain certain limitations provided, however, that the insurance company has strictly adhered to the statutory prerequisites of issuance of such a policy. See, Government Employees Insurance Company v. Douglas, 654 So.2d 118 (Fla. 1995). None of the five enumerated limitations authorize an insurer to include a provision that excludes resident family members of the named insured from such

benefits if they are injured when they are a pedestrian. ³ As such, the limitation is not authorized by either aspect of the statute. Of course, the analysis does not end here because an insurance policy may contain other general conditions affecting coverage or exclusions of coverage as long as such limitations are unambiguous and consistent with the purposes of the UM statute. <u>Flores v. Allstate Ins. Co.</u>, 819 So.2d 740, 745 (Fla. 2002).

Applying <u>Flores</u>, the first issue is whether the limitation is unambiguous. The Second District stated that the Sterlings did not raise an issue about ambiguity. That simply was not the case. At the trial court level, and at the Second District, the Sterlings argued that the policy contained conflicting definitions of who was an insured and that the UM limit of insurance provision created an ambiguity because it limited the amount of UM benefits to named insureds or any "family member" to the highest limit of insurance for UM coverage available to any one vehicle under the policy. (R.58, 159-60, 433-34) The limit applies only where the named insured or resident family member is injured while "not" occupying any vehicle. That limitation blatantly contradicts the assertion that one <u>must</u> be occupying the vehicle in the first instance, to qualify for such benefits.

-

³ Florida Statutes, §627.727(9) (e) provides that if, at the time of the accident, the injured person is not occupying a motor vehicle (like James Sterling, Jr.) she or he is entitled to select any one limit of uninsured motorist coverage for any one vehicle afforded by a policy under which she or he is insured as a named insured or as an insured resident of the named insured's household. It is this type of benefit the Plaintiffs sought on behalf of James Sterling, Jr.

The UM statute has consistently been interpreted to provide the broadest possible protection to the injured party from the negligence of uninsured motorists and the statute requires a liberal construction to accomplish that purpose. Schutt v. Atlantic Casualty Co., 682 So.2d 684 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996) A contract of insurance must also be interpreted broadly, in favor of the insured, where a policy is uncertain or its terms ambiguous. See, e.g. Young v. Progressive Southeastern Ins. Co., 753 So.2d 80 (Fla. 2000). When interpreting such a policy, a single provision should not be considered in isolation, but should be construed with all other policy provisions against the background of the case. Matthews v. Ranger Ins. Co., 281 So.2d 345, 348 9Fla. 1973). We respectfully submit that application of these principles leads to the conclusion that the policy is ambiguous and that the Flores, test cannot be satisfied by Ohio Casualty.

Even if the provisions of the policy were unambiguous, the limitations sought to be enforced by Ohio Casualty do not satisfy the second prong of the Flores test because the limitations are not consistent with the purpose of the UM statute. Ever since UM coverage has been required in Florida, insurance companies, like Ohio Casualty here, have attempted to limit and avoid that coverage. In the face of such organized efforts to reduce the statutorily mandated coverage, this Court issued its landmark decision in Mullis v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Co., 252 So.2d 229 (Fla. 1971). This Court's decision in

Mullis, has been recognized as having clearly articulated Florida's public policy for Class I insureds. Alamo Rent-A-Car Inc. v. Hayward, 858 So.2d 1238, 1240 (Fla. 5th DCA 2003). In Mullis, this Court stated:

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