STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC06-1910

L. T. CASE NO.: 2 D05-1875

JAMES D. STERLING and CAROLYN STERLING, as Parents and Natural Guardians of JAMES D. STERLING, JR., a minor, and JAMES D. STERLING and CAROLYN STERLING, Individually,

Petitioners,

Respondents

VS.

THE OHIO CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY, and AUTO-OWNERS INSURANCE COMPANY/SOUTHERN-OWNERS INSURANCE COMPANY,

Respondents.	
	/

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF RESPONDENT, THE OHIO CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY

WAYNE TOSKO, ESQUIRE VASQUEZ & TOSKO, LLP

Landmark Center Two
225 East Robinson Street, Suite 525
Orlando, FL 32801 - 4328
(407) 481 - 9300; (407) 481-9171(Fax)
Fla. Bar No.: 404675
Attorneys for RESPONDENT, THE OHIO

Devine v. Prudential Property and Casualty Insurance Company,
614 So.2d 683 (Fla. 4 th DCA 1993)
<u>France v. Liberty Mutual,</u> 380 So.2d 1155 (Fla. 3 rd DCA 1980)
Government Employees Insurance Company v. Douglas, 654 So.2d 118 (Fla. 1995)
Mullis v. State Farm, 252 So.2d 229 (Fla. 1971)
Progressive American v. Hunter, 603 So.2d 1301 (Fla. 4 th DCA 1992)
<u>Salas v. Liberty Mutual,</u> 272 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973)
Sterling v. Ohio Casualty Insurance Company, 936 So.2d 42 (Fla. 2d DCA 2006)
<u>Travelers v. Powell,</u> 206 So.2d 244 (Fla. 1 st DCA 1968)
<u>Tucker v. Geico,</u> 288 So.2d 238 (Fla. 1973)
Young v. Progressive Southeastern Insurance Company, 753 So.2d 80 (Fla. 2000)
FLORIDA STATUTES:
Florida Statute 627.727 (2001)

Respondent adopts the Petitioners' Statement of The Case and Facts.

WHETHER THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEALS ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE OHIO CASUALTY POLICY DOES NOT PROVIDE UNINSURED MOTORIST COVERAGE FOR THE ACCIDENT INVOLVING JAMES D. STERLING, JR.

On the face of the Ohio Casualty business auto policy and based on the clear and unambiguous language of that policy, James D. Sterling, Jr. is not an insured under either the liability provisions of the policy or the uninsured motorist provisions of the policy. That is, James D. Sterling, Jr. does not qualify as an insured or meet the definition of an insured under either of those provisions and, as such, the policy does not provide coverage for the accident in question.

Florida Statute 627,727, which governs uninsured motorists coverage, provides that a motor vehicle liability insurance policy must provide uninsured motorist coverage "... for the protection of persons insured thereunder...". Therefore, under the statutory language uninsured motorist coverage is only required to be provided if the person is insured under the policy. Since James D. Sterling, Jr. is not insured under the Ohio Casualty business policy, the Statute does not mandate coverage.

There are numerous Florida cases that have addressed language in motor vehicle policies wherein the insurer has attempted to exclude or limit uninsured motorist coverage. An overview of the Florida cases that have addressed these issues reveals

uninsured motorist coverage based on the mode of transportation or the vehicle that the insured was occupying. However, in each of the cases that have addressed this issue the person seeking uninsured motorist coverage qualified as an insured under the policy and the insurer was attempting to exclude uninsured motorist coverage or limit that coverage to someone who otherwise qualified as an insured. The present case is clearly distinguishable from those Florida cases since James D. Sterling, Jr. was not an insured under the Ohio Casualty policy.

THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEALS RULED CORRECTLY WHEN IT DETERMINED THERE WAS NO UNINSURED MOTORIST COVERAGE FOR JAMES D. STERLING, JR.

Whether uninsured motorist coverage is available to James D. Sterling, Jr. essentially entails a three pronged analysis. First, whether James D. Sterling, Jr. qualifies as an insured under The Ohio Casualty policy. Second, whether Florida's Uninsured Motorist Statute mandates coverage under the facts of this case. Third, whether Florida case law imposes coverage.

The Ohio Casualty Policy

The preliminary question concerns whether James D. Sterling, Jr. is an insured under The Ohio Casualty business owner's policy. That policy defines an insured under the liability coverage as follows:

WHO IS AN INSURED

The following are "insureds":

- A. You for any covered "auto";
- B. Anyone else while using with your permission a covered "auto" you own, hire, or borrow except

borrow a covered "auto".

- 2. Your "employee" if the covered "auto" is owned by that employee. . .
- 3. Someone using a covered "auto" while she or he is working in a business of selling, servicing, repairing . . . autos unless that business is yours.
- 4. Anyone other than your "employees",

 partners, members (if you are a limited liability

 company) . . . or any of their employees while moving

 property to or from a covered "auto".
- 5. A partner (if you are a partnership) . . . for a covered "auto" owned by him or her or a member of his or her household.

The Florida Uninsured Motorist Coverage Non-Stacked Form defines an insured as follows:

WHO IS INSURED

Anyone "occupying" a covered "auto" or a temporary substitute for a
covered "auto". The covered "auto" must be out of service because of its
breakdown, repair, servicing, loss or destruction.

"bodily injury" sustained by another "insured".

At the time of this accident James D. Sterling, Jr. was a pedestrian.

He was not in any way involved with the named insured's business nor was he occupying or otherwise involved in any way with a covered "auto."

James D. Sterling, Jr. simply does not meet the definition of an insured under the plain language of either the liability or uninsured motorist provisions and, therefore, does not qualify as an insured under the policy.

Sterling references the "Limit of Insurance" provisions of the uninsured motorist coverage in an effort to create some ambiguity in the policy because that provision refers to the term "family members." The Petitioners' reliance on this language to create a so-called ambiguity is misplaced. The limit of insurance provision is just that, a provision that limits the available coverage and defines the most that the company will pay for all damages resulting from one accident. That provision has absolutely nothing to do with who is an insured under either the liability or uninsured motorist provisions and, therefore, cannot be construed to expand the definition of an insured as provided for under the provisions of the policy that specifically and clearly define who qualifies as an insured. In fact, the definition of an insured under both the liability

"WHO IS AN INSURED." That language could not be more straightforward or clear.

In addition to the clear and unambiguous language of the policy itself as to the definition of an insured, the uninsured motorist provisions of The Ohio Casualty policy contains an endorsement which states in part:

AN IMPORTANT NOTICE TO OUR COMMERCIAL AUTOMOBILE POLICYHOLDERS REGARDING CHANGES TO YOUR UNINSURED MOTORIST COVERAGE

The intent of uninsured and/or underinsured motorist coverage on a commercial automobile policy is to cover you or your employees while operating or occupying an owned automobile described in the policy . . .

The uninsured/underinsured motorist endorsement attached will only provide uninsured/underinsured motorist coverage to you or your employees while operating or occupying an owned auto described in the policy. . .

makes perfectly clear that James D. Sterling, Jr. would not be covered for the accident at issue in this case.

Statutory Analysis

Having demonstrated that James D. Sterling, Jr. did not qualify as an insured under the plain terms of the Ohio Casualty policy, the next issue concerns whether the policy violates *Florida's Uninsured Motorist Statute*. *Florida Statute* 627.727 governs uninsured motorist coverage. That Statute provides in part as follows:

(1) No motor vehicle liability insurance policy which provides bodily injury liability coverage shall be delivered or issued for delivery in this State with respect to any specifically insured or identified motor vehicle registered or principally garaged in this State unless uninsured motor vehicle coverage is provided therein or supplemental thereto for the protection of persons insured thereunder who are legally entitled to recover damages from owners or operators of uninsured motor vehicles because of bodily injury, sickness or disease, including death, resulting therefrom. (Emphasis added.)

motorist coverage for "... persons insured thereunder..." The Statute, on its face, does not mandate uninsured motorist coverage for a person who is not even an insured under a policy. In other words, the Statute does not require that an insurer provide coverage for a person who does not qualify as an insured. The Uninsured Motorist Statute has never mandated that motor vehicle policies must include resident family members within the definition of an insured. As such, the Statute does not mandate uninsured motorist coverage for James D. Sterling, Jr. simply because he is a family member of James D. Sterling, Sr.

As the Second District Court of Appeals in <u>Sterling v. Ohio Casualty</u> Insurance Company, 936 So.2d 42 (Fla. 2d DCA 2006) noted:

"This Statute has never mandated that specific persons be included in the policy's definition of persons insured thereunder. No other Statute requires a special definition of insured either for liability or uninsured motorist coverage. We note that the Florida Motor Vehicle No-Fault Law expressly requires PIP coverage on a motor vehicle policy

the same household, persons operating the insured motor vehicle, passengers in such motor vehicles, and other person struck by such motor vehicle.

Thus, in at least once circumstance in which the Legislature intended to mandate the definition of "insured" it has done so expressly." (at 45).

It is also important to note that *Chapter 324 of Florida Statutes -*Financial Responsibility - Section 324.151 (1) (a) mandates that a motor vehicle liability policy

to be proof of financial responsibility must be issued to owners or operators under the following provisions:

"An owners liability insurance policy shall designate by explicit description . . . all motor vehicles with respect to which coverage is hereby granted and shall insure the owner named therein and any other person as operator using such motor vehicle or motor vehicles with the expressed or implied permission of such owner. . . "

definition of an insured that would include a family member but only requires that the policy insure the owner and operator.

The Case Law

Petitioners cites a line of cases that he argues stand for the proposition that James D. Sterling, Jr. is entitled to uninsured motorist coverage under The Ohio Casualty policy. Each of the cases cited by the Petitioners involve situations in which the insurer was attempting to exclude or otherwise except from coverage persons who otherwise qualified as insureds under the policy. This is a critical distinction.

Mullis v. State Farm, 252 So.2d 229 (Fla. 1971) is often cited as a landmark case in the field of Florida Uninsured Motorist Law. Therefore, that opinion demands careful analysis as to its relevance to the present case.

State Farm issued a policy to Shelby Mullis. Mr. Mullis' son, Richard Mullis, was a minor and lived in the household. Richard was injured while operating a motorcycle owned by his mother and which was not a covered vehicle under the State Farm policy. The State Farm policy excluded uninsured motorist coverage to an insured while occupying a motor vehicle owned by a resident of the household if that

defined an insured under the uninsured motorist provisions as meaning the first person named in the declarations and while resident of that person's household, the spouse and relatives. Richard Mullis clearly met the definition of an insured under the policy. Therefore, State Farm was attempting to exclude uninsured motorist coverage for a person who otherwise qualified as an insured.

Significantly, the Court stated that "Robert Lamar Mullis is not excluded from the definition of insured. In fact, the exclusionary clause specifically refers to bodily injury to an insured . . . ". (at 234). The Mullis Court held that this type of an exclusion from uninsured motorist coverage for someone who is otherwise an insured under the policy is not permissible. The Court clearly found it significant that the named insured's son was also an insured under the policy. It was only because Richard Mullis qualified as an insured under the policy that he was then classified as a Class I insured, that is a family member as defined under the policy. The Court's conclusion in Mullis was perfectly consistent with the language of the *Uninsured Motorist Statute* that requires UM coverage " . . . for the protection of persons insured thereunder." (F. S. 627.727(1).

policy to Ramon Salas. Mr. Salas' daughter, Sylvia Salas, was a resident of her father's household and was involved in an accident while riding as a passenger in an uninsured motorist vehicle owned and operated by her brother who was also a resident of the father's household. The Liberty Mutual policy contained a family household exclusion under the uninsured motorist provisions of the policy. Liberty Mutual attempted to rely on that provision/exclusion to preclude coverage. The Court found this provision invalid. Significantly, the Court stated:

"Florida Statute 627.0851 establishes the public policy of Florida to be that every insured as defined in the policy, is entitled to recover under the policy for damages he would have been able to recover against the negligent motorist if that motorist had maintained a policy of liability insurance." (at 3). (Emphasis added).

Because Sylvia Salas qualified as an insured under the policy, Liberty

Mutual could not exclude coverage based on the vehicle she was occupying at the time of the accident.

In <u>Young v. Progressive Southeastern Insurance Company</u>, 753 So.2d 80 (Fla. 2000), Progressive insured Wang Young. Mr. Young was struck from behind by a

Sheriff's Department was self insured to \$100,000. Mr. Young attempted to recover uninsured motorist benefits under the Progressive policy for his damages beyond \$100,000. Progressive denied coverage relying on a provisions in their policy that a self-insured vehicle/motorist does not qualify as an uninsured or underinsured motorist and that the language of their policy specifically excludes coverage for a vehicle owned or operated by a self-insurer. The Court found that this exclusion was invalid. The Court noted that uninsured motorist coverage cannot be "... whittled away by exclusions and exceptions." (at 83). The carrier was attempting to exclude coverage for a person who met the definition of an insured under the policy based on the nature of the tortfeasors' vehicle, i.e., a self-insured vehicle.

The Petitioners cite the case styled <u>Government Employees Insurance</u> <u>Company v. Douglas</u>, 654 So.2d 118 (Fla. 1995) in support of their position of coverage. The Florida Supreme Court's decision in <u>Douglas</u> does not change the result in the present case. The Supreme Court was addressing a line of cases which held that uninsured motorist coverage is not available if no liability coverage is purchased on the particular vehicle involved in the accident. The <u>Douglas</u> case receded from prior Court's

liability coverage for a particular accident. The Court adopted Justice Shaw's reasoning as follows:

"The majority claims that Mullis v. State Farm, and subsequent cases follow the principal that uninsured motorist coverage is unavailable if the corresponding liability coverage is inapplicable to a particular accident. This principal, however, is wholly unmentioned in Mullis and each of the cases cited by the majority for support. Quite the contrary, all of these cases apply an analysis that focuses exclusively on the injured individual rather than the accident. They rule simply and clearly that uninsured motorist coverage is unavailable if liability coverage is inapplicable to a particular individual . . . ". (at 119). (Emphasis added).

The <u>Douglas</u> Court simply held that an insurer cannot exclude uninsured motorist coverage essentially based on the mode of transportation (<u>i.e.</u>, pedestrian, motorcycle or a particular motor vehicle) or the vehicle that the insured was occupying in a particular accident. In fact, the decision in <u>Douglas</u>, supports Ohio Casualty's position that there is no coverage in the present case. As cited above, the Court stated that the rule is "... simply and clearly that uninsured motorist coverage is unavailable

case, Ohio Casualty is not attempting to exclude coverage based on a particular accident or vehicle but rather is contending that there is no uninsured motorist coverage because the "particular individual", James D. Sterling, Jr., is not an insured under either the liability or uninsured motorist provisions of the policy. Ohio Casualty's position is perfectly consistent with the Court's ruling in Douglas. In fact, Ohio Casualty's position is not inconsistent with any of the Court's rulings in uninsured motorist coverage cases that have addressed insurance company's efforts to limit the extent of uninsured motorist coverage.

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